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consolidated Financial stateMents

december 31, 2012 and 2011

Management’s statement of Responsibility for Financial information

the consolidated financial statements contained in this annual Report are the responsibility of management, and have 
been prepared in accordance with international Financial Reporting standards. Where necessary, management has 
made judgements and estimates of the outcome of events and transactions, with due consideration given to materiality. 
Management is also responsible for all other information in the annual Report and for ensuring that this information is 
consistent, where appropriate, with the information and data included in the  consolidated financial statements.

the company maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of the financial 
records and safeguarding of its assets. the consolidated financial statements have been examined by the company’s 
independent auditors, Pricewaterhousecoopers llP, and they have issued their report thereon.

the Board of directors is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its responsibilities for financial 
reporting. the Board exercises its responsibilities through the audit committee which is comprised of four independent 
directors. the audit committee meets from time to time with management and the company’s independent auditors to 
review the financial statements and matters relating to the audit. the company’s independent auditors have full and free 
access to the audit committee. the consolidated financial statements have been reviewed by the audit committee, who 
recommended their approval by the Board of directors.

Brian McManus Éric Vachon, cPa, ca 
President and  senior Vice-President and
chief executive officer chief Financial officer

saint-laurent, Quebec
March 21, 2013
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indePendent auditoR’s RePoRt

to the shareholders of stella-Jones inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of stella-Jones inc. and its subsidiaries, which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as at december 31, 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated statements of 
change in shareholders’ equity, income, comprehensive income and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with international Financial Reporting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with canadian generally accepted auditing standards. those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of  
stella-Jones inc. and its subsidiaries as at december 31, 2012 and 2011 and their financial performance and their cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with international Financial Reporting standards.

Montréal, Quebec
March 21, 2013

1 cPa auditor, ca, public accountancy permit no. a119714
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consolidated stateMents oF Financial Position
as at december 31, 2012 and 2011                 

(expressed in thousands of canadian dollars)

  note 2012 2011

   $ $

Assets

Current assets
cash 10 14,000 —
accounts receivable  5  89,563 76,511
derivative financial instruments 19 — 349
inventories  6  413,400 243,590
Prepaid expenses  10,014 8,348
income taxes receivable  7,886 1,721

   534,863 330,519
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 7 189,028  119,441
intangible assets 8  93,105  71,062
goodwill  8  135,834   91,720
derivative financial instruments 19 198 —
other assets  9  2,835 4,314 

   955,863  617,056

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity  
 
Current liabilities   
Bank indebtedness 10 14,000 2,585
accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11 65,836 43,693
derivative financial instruments 19 — 171
current portion of long-term debt  12 6,358 1,465
current portion of provisions and other long-term liabilities 13 3,862 9,418

   90,056  57,332
Non-current liabilities
long-term debt  12 343,250 178,629
deferred income taxes  16 38,809  43,417
Provisions and other long-term liabilities 13 8,297 2,117
employee future benefits  17 4,774 2,271
derivative financial instruments  19 1,926 1,378

   487,112  285,144

Shareholders’ equity
capital stock  14 210,636 131,272
contributed surplus   1,229 1,342 
Retained earnings  264,211 201,268
accumulated other comprehensive loss  (7,325) (1,970)

   468,751 331,912

   955,863  617,056

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

approved by the Board of directors

tom a. Bruce Jones, cBe  george  J. Bunze, cPa, cMa

director  director
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consolidated stateMents oF cHange in sHaReHoldeRs’ eQuity
For the years ended december 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in thousands of canadian dollars)

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss

     Translation of

     long-term

     debts 

    Foreign designated Unrecognized  Total

    currency as net losses on  share-

 Capital Contributed Retained  translation investment cash flow  holders’

 stock surplus earnings adjustment hedges hedges Total equity

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance – January 1, 2012 131,272  1,342  201,268  (2,239) 1,046  (777) (1,970) 331,912

Comprehensive income
net income for the year — — 73,070  — — — — 73,070
other comprehensive 
 income (loss) — — (30) (6,711) 1,731  (375) (5,355) (5,385)

Comprehensive income 
 for the year — — 73,040  (6,711) 1,731  (375) (5,355) 67,685

dividends on common shares — — (10,097) — — — — (10,097)
stock option plan 719  — — — — — — 719
exercise of stock options —  (231) — — — — — (231)
issuance of common shares 
 (note 4) 78,202  — — — — — — 78,202
employee share purchase plans 443  — — — — — — 443
stock-based compensation — 118  — — — — — 118
   79,364  (113) (10,097) — — — — 69,154 

Balance – 
 December 31, 2012 210,636  1,229  264,211  (8,950) 2,777  (1,152) (7,325) 468,751 

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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consolidated stateMents oF cHange in sHaReHoldeRs’ eQuity (continued)
For the years ended december 31, 2012 and 2011

(expressed in thousands of canadian dollars)

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss

     Translation of

     long-term

     debts 

    Foreign designated Unrecognized  Total

    currency as net losses on  share-

 Capital Contributed Retained  translation investment cash flow  holders’

 stock surplus earnings adjustment hedges hedges Total equity

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance – January 1, 2011 130,229  1,376  155,636  (8,471) 2,243  (911) (7,139) 280,102 

Comprehensive income 
net income for the year — — 55,709  — — — — 55,709 
other comprehensive 
 income (loss) —  — (2,105) 6,232  (1,197) 134  5,169  3,064 

Comprehensive income
  for the year —  — 53,604  6,232  (1,197) 134  5,169  58,773 
                 
dividends on common shares — — (7,972) — — — — (7,972)
stock option plan 655  — — —  — — — 655 
exercise of stock options — (255) — — — — — (255)
employee share purchase plans 388  — — — — — — 388 
stock-based compensation —  221  — — — — — 221 

    1,043  (34) (7,972) — —  — — (6,963)

Balance – 
 December 31, 2011 131,272  1,342  201,268  (2,239) 1,046  (777) (1,970) 331,912 

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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consolidated stateMents oF incoMe
For the years ended december 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in thousands of canadian dollars, except earnings per common share)

  note 2012 2011

   $ $

Sales   717,494   640,148 

Expenses

cost of sales   565,668   515,286 
selling and administrative    42,543 35,835 
other losses (gains), net    (313)  1,059 

    15  607,898   552,180 

Operating income    109,596   87,968 

Financial expenses   

interest on long-term debt    8,319   6,777 
other interest   — 1,262 

      8,319   8,039 

Income before income taxes    101,277   79,929 

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
current 16  30,486 23,147 
deferred 16  (2,279)  1,073 

       28,207   24,220 

Net income for the year    73,070   55,709 

Basic earnings per common share 14  4.54   3.49 

Diluted earnings per common share 14  4.53    3.48 

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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consolidated stateMents oF coMPReHensiVe incoMe
For the years ended december 31, 2012 and 2011

(expressed in thousands of canadian dollars)

   2012 2011

    $ $

Net income for the year    73,070   55,709 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to net income

net change in gains (losses) on translation of financial statements of 
 foreign operations   (6,711)  6,232 

change in gains (losses) on translation of long-term debts designated 
 as hedges of net investment in foreign operations  1,708  (1,211)

income tax on change in gains (losses) on translation of long-term debts 
 designated as hedges of net investment in foreign operations   23  14 

change in gains (losses) on fair value of derivatives designated as 
 cash flow hedges   (528)  178 

income tax on change in gains (losses) on fair value of derivatives 
 designated as cash flow hedges   153  (44)

Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to net income

change in actuarial losses on post-retirement benefit obligations   (53) (2,784)

income tax on change in actuarial losses on post-retirement 
 benefit obligations  23  679 

   (5,385) 3,064 

Comprehensive income for the year  67,685  58,773 

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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consolidated stateMents oF casH FloWs
For the years ended december 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in thousands of canadian dollars)

  note 2012 2011

    $ $

Cash flows provided by (used in)  
Operating activities
net income for the year  73,070 55,709 
adjustments for 
  depreciation of property, plant and equipment  5,312  4,523 
  amortization of intangible assets  5,393 4,192 
  interest accretion  739  1,239 
  asset revaluation following Kanaka’s step acquisition  (1,623) — 
  loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  2,597  505 
  employee future benefits  (330) (1,965)
  stock-based compensation   118  221 
  asset impairment  —  2,206 
  Financial expenses  8,319  8,039 
  income taxes  30,486  23,147 
  deferred income taxes  (2,279) 1,073 
  Restricted stock units obligation  (729) 747 
  other  (276) (9)

   120,797  99,627 

changes in non-cash working capital components and others 
  accounts receivable  32,220 (11,968)
  inventories   (60,076) (30,204)
  Prepaid expenses  (205) (3,408)
  income taxes receivable  (284) (79)
  accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (15,196) 6,153 
  asset retirement obligations  (496) (270)
  Provisions and other long-term liabilities  (4,541) 3,359 

   (48,578) (36,417)

interest paid  (7,202) (8,594)
income tax paid  (36,501) (21,822)

   28,516  32,794 

Financing activities 
decrease in bank indebtedness  (7,085) (4,792)
increase in deferred financing costs  (849)  (122)
increase in long-term debt  174,550  98,286 
Repayment of long-term debt  (70,163)  (80,108)
non-competes payable  (1,296) (1,218)
dividend on common shares  (10,097) (7,972)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares   78,481  788 

      163,541  4,862 

Investing activities 
decrease (increase) in other assets  334 (459)
Business acquisition 4 (167,284) (29,015)
increase in intangible assets  (471) (658)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (14,790)  (7,834)
Proceeds on disposal of assets  4,154   310  

      (178,057) (37,656)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the year  14,000  — 
             
Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of year  —   — 

Cash and cash equivalents – End of year   14,000   —

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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notes to consolidated Financial stateMents
december 31, 2012 and 2011 

(amounts expressed in thousands of canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

1 descRiPtion oF tHe Business

  stella-Jones inc. (the “company”) is a north american producer and marketer of industrial treated wood products, 
specializing in the production of railway ties and timbers as well as wood poles supplied to electrical utilities and 
telecommunication companies. the company manufactures the wood preservative creosote and other coal tar-based 
products and provides the railroad industry with used tie pickup and disposal services. the company also provides 
treated residential lumber products and customized services to lumber retailers and wholesalers for outdoor applications. 
other treated wood products include marine and foundation pilings, construction timbers, highway guardrail posts and 
treated wood for bridges. the company has treating and pole peeling facilities across canada and the united states and 
sells its products primarily in these two countries. the company’s headquarters are located at 3100 de la côte-Vertu 
Blvd., in saint-laurent, Quebec, canada. the company is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act, and 
its common shares are listed on the toronto stock exchange (“tsX”) under the stock symbol sJ.

2 signiFicant accounting Policies

 Basis of presentation 

  the company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with international Financial Reporting 
standards (“iFRs”) as issued by the international accounting standards Board (“iasB”).

 these consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on March 21, 2013.

 Basis of measurement

  the consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for derivative 
financial instruments and certain long-term liabilities which are measured at fair value. 

 Principles of consolidation

 a) subsidiaries
   the consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. the 

significant subsidiaries are as follows: guelph utility Pole company ltd., i.P.B.- W.P.i. international inc., 4552822 canada 
inc., 4552831 canada inc., stella-Jones canada inc., stella-Jones u.s. Holding corporation (“sJ Holding”), stella-
Jones corporation (“sJ corp”), stella-Jones u.s. Finance corporation and canadalux s.à.r.l. the foreign operations  
that have a different functional currency from that of the company are sJ Holding, sJ corp, stella-Jones u.s. Finance 
corporation and canadalux s.à.r.l.

   Following the acquisition of McFarland cascade Holdings, inc. (“McHi”) on november 30, 2012, (note 4), in addition 
to McHi, the company added the following significant subsidiaries which are foreign operations that have a different 
functional currency from that of the company: electric Mills Wood Preserving llc, shelby county Forest Products 
l.l.c., cascade Pole and lumber company, McFarland cascade Pole & lumber company, l. d. McFarland company, 
limited and Forest Products Research laboratory, llc. also as part of the McHi acquisition, the company added the 
following canadian significant subsidiaries: selkirk Forest Products company, McP acquisition Holdings ltd., Kanaka 
creek Pole company limited (“Kanaka”) and selkirk timber company.

   the subsidiaries are all entities over which the company has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. the existence and effect 
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the 
company controls another entity. subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the company. they are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
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Notes to CoNsolidated FiNaNCial statemeNts (CoNtiNued)
december 31, 2012 and 2011 
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Principles of consolidation (continued)

 a) subsidiaries (continued)
   the acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the company. the 

consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. the consideration transferred also includes the fair value of 
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. acquisition-related costs are expensed 
as incurred. identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

   the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the fair value of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
group’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. if the cost of 
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly 
in the consolidated statement of income. intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions 
between companies are eliminated. unrealized losses are also eliminated. accounting policies of the subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the company.

 b) Joint venture
   as a result of the McHi acquisition, the company’s interest in Kanaka has increased to 100%. up to november 30, 2012, 

the consolidated statements of the company included the accounts of a 50% interest in Kanaka, considered a joint 
venture which was accounted for under the proportionate consolidation method of accounting.

   a joint venture entity is an entity in which the company holds a long-term interest and shares joint control over the 
strategic, financial and operating decisions with one or more other venturers under a contractual arrangement.

 Foreign currency translation

 a) Functional and presentation currency
   items included in the financial statements of each of the company’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). the consolidated financial 
statements are presented in canadian dollars, which is the company’s functional currency.

 b) Foreign currency transactions
   Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 

dates of the transactions. Revenue and expenses denominated in a foreign currency are translated by applying the 
monthly average exchange rates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rate in effect at the statement of financial position date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities not denominated in the 
functional currency are recognized in the consolidated statement of income within other losses (gains), net, except 
for qualifying cash flow hedges which are recognized in other comprehensive income and deferred in accumulated 
other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity.

   non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated 
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency 
differences arising on translation are recognized in the consolidated statement of income, except for differences 
arising on the translation of available-for-sale (equity) investments and foreign currency differences arising on 
the translation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment, which are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.
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Notes to CoNsolidAted FiNANCiAl stAtemeNts (CoNtiNued)
december 31, 2012 and 2011 

(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Foreign currency translation (continued)

 b) Foreign currency transactions (continued)
   non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at cost remain translated 

into the functional currency at historical exchange rates.

 c) Foreign operations
   the financial statements of entities that have a functional currency different from that of the company are 

translated using the rate in effect at the statement of financial position date for assets and liabilities, and the average 
exchange rates during the year for revenues and expenses. adjustments arising from this translation are recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity.

 d) Hedges of net investments in foreign operations
   Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of net 

investment in foreign operations are recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge is 
effective, and are presented within equity. to the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are recognized 
in the consolidated statement of income. When the hedged part of a net investment (the subsidiary) is disposed 
of, the relevant amount in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of income as part of the gain or 
loss on disposal.

 Revenue recognition

  Revenue from the sale of products and services is recognized when the entity has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods, the entity does not retain either continuing managerial involvement to 
the degree usually associated with ownership or effective control over the goods sold, the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and 
the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably. Revenue is net of trade or volume 
discounts, returns and allowances and claims for damaged goods.

  the company enters into service agreements where green tie procurement and tie treating services are offered separately. 
these services consist mainly of procuring, trimming, grading and treating railway ties for which revenue is recognized 
when the services are provided, based on contractual terms. Revenues for green tie procurement, trimming and grading 
services can be recognized either at the time of the green tie sale or when treating services are rendered, depending on 
the contractual agreement. treating revenues are recognized at the time of treating or when the railway ties are shipped. 
under certain agreements, the customer will supply the green ties and the company will offer all of the other 
services. the company capitalizes costs incurred to provide the service and reverses them to cost of sales when the 
revenue is recognized.

  the company also operates timber licences to harvest logs as part of a process to procure raw material for the 
processing and treatment of utility poles. logs not meeting pole-quality standards are regularly harvested and 
sold to third parties. Proceeds from the sale of non-pole-quality logs are included in the cost of poles sold since the 
production of non-pole-quality logs is a by-product of the company’s pole raw material procurement operations. 
sales of non-pole-quality logs totalled $14,938 for the year ended december 31, 2012 (2011 – $11,493).

 Cash and cash equivalents

  cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balances and short-term liquid investments with initial 
maturities of three months or less. 
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Notes to CoNsolidated FiNaNCial statemeNts (CoNtiNued)
december 31, 2012 and 2011 
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Accounts receivable

  accounts receivable are amounts due from customers from the sale of products or services rendered in the 
ordinary course of business. accounts receivable are classified as current assets if payment is due within one year 
or less. accounts receivable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, less 
provision for doubtful accounts.

 Inventories
  inventories of raw materials are valued at the lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value. Finished 

goods are valued at the lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value and include the cost of raw 
materials, direct labour and manufacturing overhead expenses. net realizable value is the estimated selling price 
less cost necessary to make the sales.

 Property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, including borrowing costs incurred during the construction 
period, less accumulated depreciation. the company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item 
of property, plant and equipment to its significant parts, and depreciates separately each such part. depreciation 
is calculated on a straight-line basis using rates based on the estimated useful lives of the assets.

 Useful life 

Buildings 7 to 60 years
Production equipment 5 to 60 years
anti-pollution equipment 10 to 60 years
Rolling stock 3 to 15 years 
office equipment 2 to 10 years

  Roads are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation, which is provided on the basis of timber volumes 
harvested. depreciation amounts are charged to operations based on a pro rata calculation of timber volumes 
harvested over the estimated volumes to be harvested in the licensed area served by the road, and are applied 
against the historical cost.

  the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

 Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. all other borrowing costs are 
recognized as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they are incurred.

 Intangible assets

  intangible assets with finite useful lives are recorded at cost and are amortized over their useful lives. intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives are recorded at cost and are not amortized. the amortization method and 
estimate of the useful life of an intangible asset are reviewed on an annual basis:

 Method Useful life

customer relationships straight-line 5 to 10 years 
customer relationships declining balance 10% to 15%
non-compete agreements straight-line 3 to 6 years
creosote registration — indefinite
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Notes to CoNsolidAted FiNANCiAl stAtemeNts (CoNtiNued)
december 31, 2012 and 2011 

(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Intangible assets (continued)

  standing timber costs are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization, which is provided on the basis of timber 
volumes harvested. in canada, the company has perpetual cutting rights where planning and site preparation 
costs for specific geographical areas are capitalized until the harvest process can begin. amortization amounts are 
charged to operations based on a pro rata calculation of timber volumes harvested over the estimated volumes to 
be harvested in the specific area.

  cutting rights are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization, which is provided on the basis of timber 
volumes harvested. amortization amounts are charged to operations based on a pro rata calculation of timber 
volumes harvested over the estimated volumes to be harvested during a 40-year period, and are applied against 
the historical cost.

  the creosote registration is subject to an annual impairment test or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.

 Goodwill

  goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the company’s share of the 
net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition. goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. goodwill is allocated to 
cash-generating units (“cgus”) for the purpose of impairment testing. the allocation is made to those cgus or 
groups of cgus that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

 Impairment

  impairments are recorded when the recoverable amounts of assets are less than their carrying amounts. the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. impairment losses are 
evaluated for potential reversals when events or changes in circumstances warrant such consideration, except goodwill.

 non-financial assets
  the carrying values of non-financial assets with finite lives, such as property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets with finite useful lives, are assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. long-lived assets that are not amortized are subject to an 
annual impairment test. the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or cgu). an impairment loss 
is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purpose 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cgus). non-financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

 goodwill
  the carrying value of goodwill is tested annually for impairment. goodwill is allocated to cgus for the purpose of 

impairment testing based on the level at which management monitors it, which is not higher than that of an operating 
segment. the allocation is made to those cgus that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
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Notes to CoNsolidated FiNaNCial statemeNts (CoNtiNued)
december 31, 2012 and 2011 
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Leases

  the company leases certain property, plant and equipment.

  leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

  leases of property, plant and equipment where the company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower 
of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

  each finance lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate 
on the finance balance outstanding. the corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in 
long-term debt. the interest element of the finance cost is charged to the consolidated statement of income over 
the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period. 

  the depreciable amount of a leased asset is allocated to each accounting period during the period of expected 
use on a systematic basis consistent with the depreciation policy the company adopts for depreciable assets that 
are owned. if there is reasonable certainty that the company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, 
the period of expected use is the useful life of the asset; otherwise, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and its useful life.

 Non-current assets held for sale

  non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally 
through a sales transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. they are stated at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less cost to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sales 
transaction rather than through continuing use.

 Provisions

  Provisions for reforestation, site remediation and other provisions are recognized when the company has a legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. if 
some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position as a separate asset, but only if it is 
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received.

  Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the obligation. the increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as financial expense.

  the company considers the current portion of the provision to be an obligation whose settlement is expected to 
occur within the next 12 months.

 Reforestation obligations
  the Forest Act (British columbia) and the Forests Act (alberta) require the industry to assume the costs of  

reforestation on certain harvest licences. accordingly, the company records its best estimate, which is the fair 
value of the cost of reforestation in the period in which the timber is harvested, with the fair value of the liability 
determined with reference to the present value of the estimated future cash flows. Reforestation costs are included 
in the costs of current production.
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2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Provisions (continued)

 site remediation obligations
  site remediation obligations relate to the discounted present value of estimated future expenditures associated 

with the obligations of restoring the environmental integrity of certain properties. the company reviews estimates 
of future site remediation expenditures on an ongoing basis and records any revisions, along with the accretion 
expense on existing obligations, in selling and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of income.

  at each reporting date, the liability is remeasured for changes in discount rates and in the estimate of the amount, 
timing and cost of the work to be carried out.

 
 Income taxes

  the tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of income, except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly to shareholders’ equity.

 
 current tax
  the current income tax charge is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable or 

not deductible. tax adjustement from prior years are also recorded in current tax. current tax is calculated using 
tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 
is subject to interpretation. Provisions are established where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities. during the year, the tax provision calculation is based on an estimated of the annual 
tax rate.

 deferred tax
  deferred tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. deferred income tax is 
determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is 
settled. deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.

 deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current.

  deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is 
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

  deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized in respect of temporary differences that arise on initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities acquired other than in a business combination.

 Employee future benefits

 other post-retirement benefit programs
  the cost of future benefits earned by employees is established by actuarial calculations using the projected benefit 

method pro-rated on years of service based on management’s best estimate of economic and demographic assumptions.
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2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Employee future benefits (continued)

  the company provides other post-retirement healthcare benefits to certain retirees. the entitlement to these 
benefits is usually conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of 
a minimum service period. the expected costs of these benefits are attributed from the date when service by the 
employee first leads to benefits under the plan, until the date when further service by the employee will lead to no 
material amount of further benefits. actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes 
in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

 defined benefit pension plan
  the company accrues obligations and related costs under defined benefit pension plans, net of plan assets. the 

cost of pensions earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method and 
management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation, retirement ages of 
employees and discount rates on obligations. For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, 
those assets are valued at fair market value. Past service costs from plan amendments are recognized in income, 
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified 
period of time (the vesting period). in this case, the past service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period.

  actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged 
or credited to other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. the amounts recognized in other 
comprehensive income are recognized immediately in retained earnings without recycling to the consolidated 
statements of income in subsequent periods. 

 Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments

  the company operates a number of equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation plans under which 
it receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments of the company or cash payments.

 equity-settled plan
  the company accounts for stock options granted to employees using the fair value method. under this 

method, compensation expense for stock options granted is measured at fair value at the grant date using the  
Black-scholes valuation model and is charged to operations over the vesting period of the options granted, with a 
corresponding credit to contributed surplus. For grants of share-based awards with graded vesting, each tranche 
is considered a separate grant with a different vesting date and fair value. any consideration paid on the exercise 
of stock options is credited to capital stock together with any related stock-based compensation expense included 
in contributed surplus. 

 cash-settled plan
  the company has restricted stock units. the company measures the liability incurred and the compensation 

expenses at fair value by applying the Black-scholes valuation model. the compensation expenses are recognized 
in the consolidated statements of income over the vesting periods. until the liability is settled, the fair value 
of that liability is remeasured at each reporting date, with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income.

 Financial instruments

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.
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2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Financial instruments (continued)

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

  at initial recognition, the company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories depending on 
the purpose for which the instruments were acquired:

 a)  Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: a financial asset or financial liability 
is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term. 
derivatives are also included in this category unless they are designated as hedges. interest rate swaps and 
foreign exchange forward contracts are the only derivative financial instruments held by the company and are 
designated as cash flow hedges (see (e) below).

    Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value. transaction costs 
are expensed in the consolidated statement of income. gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
presented in the consolidated statement of income as part of other gains and losses in the period in which 
they arise. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as current 
except for the portion expected to be realized or paid beyond 12 months of the consolidated statement of 
financial position date, which is classified as non-current.

  b)  available-for-sale investments: available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated 
in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. 

    available-for-sale investments are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently 
carried at fair value. gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. available-for-sale investments are classified as non-current unless they mature within 12 months, or 
management expects to dispose of them within 12 months.

    interest on available-for-sale investments, calculated using the effective interest method, is recognized in 
the consolidated statement of income as part of interest income. dividends on available-for-sale equity 
instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of income as part of other gains and losses when 
the company’s right to receive payment is established. When an available-for-sale investment is sold or 
impaired, the accumulated gains or losses are moved from accumulated other comprehensive income to the 
consolidated statement of income and are included in other gains and losses.

  c)  loans and receivables: loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. the company’s loans and receivables comprise accounts 
receivable and cash and cash equivalents, and are included in current assets due to their short-term nature.

    loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be received, less, when material, a 
discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. subsequently, loans and receivables are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision for impairment, if any.

  d)  Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, bank indebtedness and long-term debt. accounts payable and accrued liabilities are 
initially recognized at the amount required to be paid, less, when material, a discount to reduce the payables 
to fair value. subsequently, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Bank indebtedness and long-term debt are recognized initially at fair value, net of 
any transaction costs incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Financial instruments (continued)

   Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 12 months. otherwise, they are 
presented as non-current liabilities.

 e)  derivative financial instruments: the company uses derivatives in the form of interest rate swaps to manage 
risks related to its variable rate debt and foreign exchange forward contracts to limit its exposure to the 
fluctuations of the u.s. dollar. all derivatives classified as held-for-trading are included in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and are classified as current or non-current based on the contractual terms 
specific to the instrument, with gains and losses on remeasurement recorded in income. all derivatives 
qualifying for hedge accounting are included in the consolidated statement of financial position and are 
classified as current or non-current based on the contractual terms specific to the instruments, with gains and 
losses on remeasurement included in other comprehensive income.

 Hedging transactions

  the company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to limit its exposure under contracted cash inflows 
of sales denominated in u.s. dollars. the company also enters into interest rate swaps in order to reduce the 
impact of fluctuating interest rates on its short-term and long-term debt. these contracts are treated as cash flow 
hedges for accounting purposes and are not fair-valued through profit and loss.

  effective derivative financial instruments held for cash flow hedging purposes are recognized at fair value, and 
the changes in fair value related to the effective portion of the hedge are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. the changes in fair value related to the ineffective portion of the hedge are immediately recorded in the 
consolidated statement of income. the changes in fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts and interest 
rate swaps recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified in the consolidated statement of income 
under sales and interest on long-term debt respectively in the periods during which the cash flows constituting 
the hedged item affect income.

  When the derivative financial instrument no longer qualifies as an effective hedge, or when the hedging instrument 
is sold or terminated prior to maturity, hedge accounting, if applicable, is discontinued prospectively. accumulated 
other comprehensive income related to a foreign exchange forward contract and interest swap hedges that cease 
to be effective are reclassified in the consolidated statement of income under foreign exchange gain or loss and 
interest on long-term debt respectively in the periods during which the cash flows constituting the hedged 
item affect income. Furthermore, if the hedged item is sold or terminated prior to maturity, hedge accounting is 
discontinued, and the related accumulated other comprehensive income is then reclassified in the consolidated 
statement of income at the original maturity date of the hedged item.

  the company designated a portion of its u.s. dollar-denominated long-term debt as a hedge of its net investment 
in foreign operations. For such debt designated as a hedge of the net investment in foreign operations, exchange 
gains and losses are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

 Earnings per share

  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income for the period attributable to equity owners of 
the company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.

  diluted earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method. under this method, earnings per share 
data are computed as if the options were exercised at the beginning of the year (or at the time of issuance, if later) 
and as if the funds obtained from exercise were used to purchase common shares of the company at the average 
market price during the period.
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2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Segment reporting

  operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. the chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the senior management team, which makes strategic 
and operational decisions.

 Changes in accounting policies

  the iasB has amended the following accounting standard which was adopted by the company:

  IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements

  Presentation of items of other comprehensive income (“oci”):
   ias 1 had been amended to require entities to separate items presented in oci into two groups, based on 

whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. items that will not be recycled such as 
revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment will be presented separately from items that may be 
recycled in the future, such as deferred gains and losses on cash flow hedges. entities that choose to present 
oci items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately. 

   the title used by ias 1 for the statement of comprehensive income has changed to Statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. However, ias 1 still permits entities to use other titles.

   the company applied the amended standard effective July 1, 2012, and this application had no significant 
impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

 Impact of accounting pronouncements not yet implemented

  iFRs 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in november 2009. it addresses the classification and measurement of 
financial assets and replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in ias 39 for debt instruments 
with a new mixed measurement model having only two categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit 
and loss. iFRs 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments, and such instruments are recognized 
either at fair value through profit and loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Where such 
equity instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, dividends, to the extent they 
do not clearly represent a return on investment, are recognized through profit and loss; however, other gains and 
losses (including impairments) associated with such instruments remain in accumulated other comprehensive loss 
indefinitely. in december 2011, the effective date of implementation of iFRs 9, which was originally for accounting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015.  
the company has not yet assessed the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

  in May 2011, the iasB issued the following standards which have not yet been adopted by the company: iFRs 10, 
Consolidated Financial Statements; iFRs 11, Joint Arrangements; iFRs 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities; ias 
27, Separate Financial Statements; iFRs 13, Fair Value Measurement; and amended ias 28, Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures. each of the new standards is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, 
with early adoption permitted. the company has assessed that the adoption of these standards will not have a 
significant impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

  in June 2011, the iasB amended ias 19, Employee Benefits, which has not yet been adopted by the company. the 
company has assessed that the adoption of this standard will not have a significant impact on its consolidated 
financial statements. 

  in december 2011, the iasB amended ias 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, which has not yet been adopted 
by the company. the company has assessed that the adoption of this standard will not have a significant impact 
on its consolidated financial statements. 
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2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Impact of accounting pronouncements not yet implemented (continued)

 the following is a brief summary of the new standards:

  IFRS 10 – Consolidation 
   iFRs 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the investee. under existing iFRs, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. iFRs 10 replaces sic-12, 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, and parts of ias 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.

  IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 
   iFRs 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. 

Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation, 
the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. 
under existing iFRs, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests 
in joint ventures. iFRs 11 supersedes ias 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and sic-13, Jointly Controlled Entities –  
Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers.

  IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
   iFRs 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, 

associates, special-purpose vehicles and off-balance sheet vehicles. the standard carries forward existing 
disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and 
risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. 

  IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
   iFRs 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all 

iFRs standards. the new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. it 
also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. under existing iFRs, guidance on measuring and 
disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in many 
cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures.

 Amendments to other standards

  in addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including ias 27, Separate Financial Statements, 
and ias 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. ias 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly 
controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements. ias 28 has been amended to include 
joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in iFRs 10, 11, 12 and 13.

 IAS 19 – Employee Benefits 
  ias 19 has been amended to make significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit 

pension expense and termination benefits and to enhance the disclosure of all employee benefits.

  the amended standard removes the option to use the “corridor approach” whereby actuarial gains and losses are 
deferred, and it also removes the option to recognize actuarial gains and losses immediately through income. 
instead, it requires immediate recognition of actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income as they 
arise, without subsequent recycling to net income. Past service cost (which will now include curtailment gains 
and losses) will no longer be recognized over a service period. instead, past service costs will be recognized 
immediately in the period of a plan amendment. 
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2 signiFicant accounting Policies (continued)

 Amendments to other standards (continued)

 IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (continued)
  Pension benefit cost will be split between (i) the cost of benefits accrued in the current period (service cost) 

and benefit changes (past service cost, settlements and curtailments); and (ii) finance expense or income. the 
finance expense or income component will be calculated based on the net defined benefit asset or liability. the 
amendments clarify that benefits requiring future services (e.g. stay bonuses) are not termination benefits in the 
scope of ias 19, and this may result in a different pattern of recognition of such costs.

  a number of other amendments have been made to recognition, measurement and classification including redefining 
short-term and other long-term benefits, guidance on the treatment taxes related to benefit plans, guidance on risk/
cost sharing features, and expanded disclosures.

  the new requirements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
application permitted.

 IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation
  the ias 32 amendments clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in 

the statement of financial position.

  the current offsetting model in ias 32 requires an equity to offset a financial asset and financial liability only when 
the entity currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

  the amendments clarify that the right of set-off must be available immediately and legally enforceable for all 
counterparties in the normal course of business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

  gross settlement mechanisms with features that both (i) eliminate credit and liquidity risk and (ii) process 
receivables and payables in a single settlement process, are effectively equivalent to net settlement; they would, 
therefore, satisfy the ias 32 criterion in these instances. 

  the ias 32 changes are retrospectively applied, with an effective date of annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014.

3 cRitical accounting estiMates and JudgMents

  the preparation of financial statements in conformity with iFRs requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the estimated useful life of 
assets, impairment of goodwill, determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
and impairment of long-lived assets. it is possible that actual results could differ from those estimates, and such 
differences could be material. estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary, they are 
reported in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they become known.



Stella-Jones56

Notes to CoNsolidated FiNaNCial statemeNts (CoNtiNued)
december 31, 2012 and 2011 
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

3 cRitical accounting estiMates and JudgMents (continued)

 Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

  the company performs annual impairment tests on goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. the 
recoverable amounts of the cgus have been determined based on fair value less cost to sell calculations. these 
calculations require the use of estimates. see note 8 for further details.

 Estimated impairment of long-lived assets

  Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives (referred to as “long-lived assets”) 
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
these assets may not be recoverable through future operations. this is accomplished by determining whether 
the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount at the assessment date. the recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use (being the present value of the expected future 
cash flows of the relevant asset). estimates of future cash flows are based on judgment and could change. there  
is measurement uncertainty since adverse changes in one or a combination of the company’s key assumptions or 
change in use of such operations could require a significant change in the carrying amount of the assets tested 
for impairment.

4 Business acQuisition

 a)  on november 30, 2012, the company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of McHi, a provider of 
treated wood products based in the state of Washington.

   McHi is a supplier of utility poles, as well as crossarms, piling and crane mats. it is also a provider of treated 
lumber for outdoor home projects, including composite decking, railings and related accessories. it serves its 
customer base through four wood treating facilities located in tacoma, Washington; eugene, oregon; electric 
Mills, Mississippi; and galloway, British columbia; as well as through an extensive distribution network. 

   total cash outlay associated with the acquisition was approximately $230,165 (us$231,647), excluding 
acquisition costs of approximately $2,979 (us$2,877), recognized in the consolidated statement of income 
under selling and administrative expenses. this amount includes $162,888 (us$163,936) paid to McHi’s 
shareholders and $67,277 (us$67,711) used to reimburse McHi’s debts with financial institutions.    

   the following fair value determination of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is preliminary and is 
based on management’s best estimates and information known at the time of preparing these consolidated 
financial statements. this fair value determination is expected to be completed within 12 months of the 
acquisition date and consequently, significant changes could occur mainly with respect to intangible assets, 
goodwill, consideration payable and deferred income tax.
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4 Business acQuisition (continued)

   the following is a summary of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the consideration transferred 
at fair value as at the acquisition date. the original transaction was made in u.s. dollars and converted into 
canadian dollars as at the acquisition date.

Assets acquired  $

non-cash working capital 153,374 
Property, plant and equipment 59,636  
cutting rights 1,159 
customer relationships 27,427 
customer backlog 379 
goodwill 44,504  
deferred income tax assets 1,867 

 288,346

Liabilities assumed
Bank indebtedness 18,500
accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,550 
long-term debt 67,277
site remediation provision 5,910 
employee future benefits 2,765 
deferred income tax liabilities  1,308

Total net assets acquired and liabilities assumed 170,036 

Consideration transferred
cash 230,165  
Payment of long-term debt (67,277)
consideration payable 7,148 

Consideration transferred for shares 170,036 

   the company’s valuation of intangible assets has identified customer relationships and customer backlog. the 
assigned useful lives are 20 years for customer relationships and 4 months for customer backlog. significant 
assumptions used in the determination of intangible assets, as defined by management, are year-over-year 
sales growth, discount rate and operating income before depreciation and amortization margin. goodwill 
is amortized and deductible for tax purposes, and represents the future economic value associated with 
the increased distribution network, acquired workforce and synergies with the company’s operations. For 
impairment test purposes, goodwill is allocated to cgu’s. in the case of the McHi acquisition, goodwill is 
allocated to plants specialized in the treatment of utility poles. note 8 provides a roll-forward of the net book 
value balances of intangible assets and goodwill.

   the fair value of trade receivables, included in non-cash working capital, is $35,527 and the contractual 
amount is $35,876, of which $349 is expected to be uncollectible.

   consideration payable represents a purchase consideration adjustment related to actual net working capital 
and certain other assets acquired on closing. as at december 31, 2012, management has not received all 
information required to finalize the amount payable and therefore it is considered preliminary. adjustments to 
the estimated purchase consideration, if any, will affect the amount of goodwill recognized on the acquisition. 
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4 Business acQuisition (continued)

   Financing for the acquisition was secured through private placements of subscription receipts which successfully 
closed on november 30, 2012, as well as a draw-down of $152,615 (us$153,598) on the company’s committed 
revolving credit facility. With respect to the private placements, the company issued 1,176,500 subscription receipts 
at a price of $68.00 per subscription receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of $80,002. a syndicate of underwriters 
took up a private placement of 721,200 subscription receipts and stella Jones international s.a. purchased 455,300 
subscription receipts on a private placement basis (note 21). the subscription receipts were exchanged on the basis 
of one common share of the company per subscription receipt. total proceeds net of legal and underwriting fees 
of the subscription receipts were $77,550. the transaction was recorded at $78,202, net of a deferred income tax 
adjustment of $652. on november 21, 2012, the company amended and restated its committed revolving credit 
facility to increase its borrowing limit to $350,000 (note 12).  

   in the month of december 2012, the acquiree’s sales and loss before income taxes amounted to $15,937 
and $77, respectively. on a pro forma basis, management’s estimate of sales and income before income 
taxes of the combined operations of the company and McHi for the 12-month period ended december 31, 2012  
would have been approximately $986,621 and $111,593 respectively, had the McHi acquisition occurred as of 
January 1, 2012. to arrive at the pro forma estimates, management considered the financing structure resulting 
from the acquisition as well as the adjustment of fair value and harmonization of accounting policies and 
assumed that the fair value adjustment made at the acquisition date would have been the same had the 
acquisition occurred on January 1, 2012.

 b)  on July 3, 2012, the company acquired certain assets of Pls Pole yard, inc. (“Pls”), a provider of untreated wood 
poles operating a wood pole peeling yard located in Rochester, Washington. total cash outlay associated with the 
acquisition was $4,396 (us$4,342), excluding acquisition costs of $396 (us$394), recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income under selling and administrative expenses, and was financed through existing credit facilities.

   the following fair value determination of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on management’s 
best estimates. no significant adjustments were made to the preliminary fair value determination.

   the following is a final summary of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the consideration transferred 
at fair value as at the acquisition date. the original transaction was made in u.s. dollars and converted into 
canadian dollars as at the acquisition date.

Assets acquired  $

inventories 1,971 
Property, plant and equipment 713 
customer relationships 800 
goodwill 1,285 

 4,769 
Liabilities assumed 
non-compete agreement 191 
Fiber supply agreement 182 

Total net assets acquired and liabilities assumed 4,396 

Consideration transferred
cash 4,396 

Consideration transferred for shares 4,396
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4 Business acQuisition (continued)

   the company’s valuation of intangible assets has identified customer relationships. the assigned useful life 
for customer relationships is 18 years and 6 months. significant assumptions used in the determination of 
intangible assets, as defined by management, are year-over-year growth, discount rate and operating income 
before depreciation and amortization margin. goodwill is amortized and deductible for tax purposes, and 
represents the future economic value associated with raw material sourcing, acquired workforce and synergies 
with the company’s operations. For impairment test purposes, goodwill is allocated to cgu’s. in the case of the 
Pls acquisition, goodwill is allocated to plants specialized in the treatment of utility poles.

   the newly acquired pole peeling assets have been integrated directly into the company’s existing operations 
and are now used for the company’s internal requirements. accordingly, it is impractical to provide the required 
pro forma disclosures on post-acquisition sales and income before taxes for these assets as the company does 
not maintain such detailed financial information.

 c)  on december 7,  2011, the company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of thompson industries, 
inc. (“thompson”), a provider of treated wood products to the railroad industry. thompson produced treated 
wood products, mainly railway ties and timbers, at a facility located in Russellville, arkansas. total cash 
outlay associated with the acquisition was approximately $29,015 (us$28,719), excluding acquisition costs of 
approximately $423 (us$414).

   the following fair value determination of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on management’s 
best estimates.  no significant adjustments were made to the preliminary fair value determination. immediately 
following the acquisition, thompson was merged with sJ corp and the surviving corporation was sJ corp. the 
results of operations of the acquiree have been included in the company’s consolidated financial statements 
from the acquisition date.

   the following is a final summary of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the consideration transferred 
at fair value as at the acquisition date. the original transaction was made in u.s. dollars and converted into 
canadian dollars as at the acquisition date.

Assets acquired  $

non-cash working capital 11,051 
Property, plant and equipment 9,452 
cash surrender value of life insurance 150 
customer relationships 12,154 
customer backlog 344 
non-deductible goodwill 16,261 

 49,412 

Liabilities assumed
accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,835 
long-term debt 3,460 
site remediation provision 455 
deferred income tax liabilities 7,451 

Total net assets acquired and liabilities assumed 35,211 

Consideration transferred
cash 29,015 
unsecured note payable to vendor 5,322 
consideration payable 874 

Consideration transferred for shares 35,211
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4 Business acQuisition (continued)

   the company’s valuation of intangible assets has identified customer relationships and customer backlog. 
the assigned useful lives for customer relationships are 25 years and 10 months for the customer backlog. 
significant assumptions used in the determination of intangible assets, as defined by management, are  
year-over-year growth, discount rate and operating income before depreciation and amortization margin. 
goodwill is not amortized nor deductible for tax purposes, and represents the future economic value associated 
with the increased railroad network access, acquired workforce and synergies with the company’s operations. 
For impairment test purposes, goodwill is allocated to cgu’s. in the case of the thompson acquisition, goodwill 
is allocated to plants specialized in the treatment of railway ties.

   the company financed the acquisition through existing credit facilities and an unsecured vendor note of 
$6,574 (us$6,507), bearing interest at 2.67% and repayable in equal installments over a 10-year period. the 
fair value of the vendor note was determined to be $5,322 (us$5,268) using an interest rate of 7.0%.

   in the period from december 7 to december 31, 2011, the acquiree’s sales and loss before income taxes  
amounted to $1,690 and $102, respectively. on a pro forma basis, management’s estimate of sales  
and income before income taxes of the combined operations of the company and thompson for the 12-month 
period ended december 31, 2011 would have been approximately $687,526 and $84,260 respectively, had 
the thompson acquisition occurred as of January 1, 2011. to arrive at the pro forma estimates, management 
considered the financing structure resulting from the acquisition as well as the adjustment of fair value and 
harmonization of accounting policies and assumed that the fair value adjustment made at the acquisition 
date would have been the same had the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2011.

5 accounts ReceiVaBle

     2012 2011

     $ $

trade receivables  82,252 72,673
less: Provision for doubtful accounts  (1,080) (414)

trade receivables – net  81,172 72,259
other receivables  8,391 4,252

  89,563 76,511
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5 accounts ReceiVaBle (continued)

 as at december 31, 2012, trade receivables of $31,655 (2011 – $25,900) were past due but not impaired.

 the aging of gross trade receivables at each reporting date was as follows:
     2012 2011

     $ $

current  49,517 46,359
Past due 1-30 days  24,195 18,066
Past due 31-60 days  5,457 5,918
Past due more than 60 days  3,083 2,330

   82,252 72,673

  as at december 31, 2012, trade receivables of $1,080 (2011  - $414) were impaired and provided for. details of the 
provision for doubtful accounts are as follows:

     2012 2011

    $ $

Balance – Beginning of year  414 279
Provision  740 210
Bad debt write-off  (60) (81)
Foreign exchange adjustments  (14) 6

Balance – end of year  1,080 414

  the variation of the provision for doubtful accounts has been included in selling and administrative expenses in 
the consolidated statement of income.  

6 inVentoRies

     2012 2011

    $ $

Raw materials  312,686 187,660 
Finished goods  100,714 55,930

   413,400 243,590



Stella-Jones62

Notes to CoNsolidated FiNaNCial statemeNts (CoNtiNued)
december 31, 2012 and 2011 
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

7 PRoPeRty, Plant and eQuiPMent 

      Production 
      and anti-
      pollution Rolling Office
   Land Roads Buildings equipment stock equipment Total

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $

As at January 1, 2011 
cost 7,614 2,957 25,284 96,691 8,856 2,722 144,124 
accumulated depreciation — (1,171) (5,238) (28,890) (2,732) (1,330) (39,361)

Net book amount 7,614 1,786 20,046 67,801 6,124 1,392 104,763 

Year ended 
 December 31, 2011 
opening net book amount 7,614 1,786 20,046 67,801 6,124 1,392 104,763 
Business acquisition 3,031 — 3,446 2,108 765 102 9,452 
additions — 349 1,289 6,872 5 660 9,175 
disposals — — — (292) (300) (18) (610)
depreciation — — (660) (2,695) (924) (244) (4,523)
depreciation included 
 in inventory — (475) (20) (7) (3) (35) (540)
Reversal of impairment — — — 280 — — 280 
exchange differences 101 — 318 779 97 149 1,444 

Closing net book amount 10,746 1,660 24,419 74,846 5,764 2,006 119,441 

As at December 31, 2011
cost 10,746 3,306 30,379 106,733 9,397 3,474 164,035 
accumulated depreciation — (1,646) (5,960) (31,887) (3,633) (1,468) (44,594)

Net book amount 10,746 1,660 24,419 74,846 5,764 2,006 119,441 

Year ended 
 December 31, 2012
opening net book amount 10,746 1,660 24,419 74,846 5,764 2,006 119,441 
Business acquisition 11,039 — 15,578 25,719 6,554 1,459  60,349   
additions 207 300 902 14,600 325 915 17,249 
disposals — — (97) (1,560) (213) — (1,870)
depreciation — — (810) (3,024) (1,163) (315) (5,312)
depreciation included 
 in inventory — (483) (23) (100) (57) (2) (665)
transfer to assets held 
 for sale — — — (131) (604) — (735)
Kanaka’s step acquisition 
 (note 4) 1,623 — 42 242 186 — 2,093 
exchange differences (137) — (340) (916) (126) (3) (1,522)

Closing net book amount 23,478 1,477  39,671 109,676 10,666 4,060  189,028  

As at December 31, 2012
cost 23,478 3,606 46,421 144,082 14,766 5,828  238,181 
accumulated depreciation — (2,129) (6,750) (34,406) (4,100) (1,768) (49,153)

Net book amount 23,478 1,477 39,671 109,676 10,666 4,060  189,028 
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7 PRoPeRty, Plant and eQuiPMent (continued)

  during 2012, the company did not capitalize any interest as part of property, plant and equipment additions. 
additions to production and anti-pollution equipment costs in 2011 included $58 of interest capitalized at an 
average borrowing rate of 3.23%.

  a piece of production equipment impaired in 2010 due to its non-utilization is now being used by the company. 
consequently, the impairment charge of $280 was reversed in 2011.

  in november 2012, the company sold the assets of its Kennecott, utah, rail service operations. total proceeds 
of the sale generated $4,044 of which $1,019 was recorded as a gain in the consolidated statement of income 
as other losses (gains), net. during the year, a total asset value of $2,866 was re-classed to assets held for sale of 
which the net book value of property, plant and equipment represented $735.

   as a result of the McHi acquisition, stella-Jones has remeasured its previously held interest in 50% of Kanaka 
and a gain of $1,623 has been recorded in the consolidated statement of income in other losses (gains), net and  
$470 has been included in inventory.

  in 2012, the company began the construction of a new wood treating facility located in cordele, georgia. this new 
facility will be primarily devoted to the production of railway ties. as at december 31, 2012, the construction in 
progress value for the facility was $4,458.

8 intangiBle assets and goodWill

  the intangible assets, which include customer relationships, non-compete agreements, cutting rights, standing 
timber and a creosote registration, were initially evaluated at fair value, which subsequently became the cost. the 
presentation in the consolidated statements of financial position is at cost less accumulated amortization and the 
related amortization expense is included in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of income.

  customer relationships comprise long-term agreements with certain customers and ongoing business relationships. 
the acquisition cost was established based on future benefits associated with these relationships. intangible 
assets associated with long-term customer agreements are amortized over the terms of the agreements, which 
range between 3 and 10 years. intangible assets associated with ongoing business relationships are amortized 
over a period ranging from 10 to 25 years.

  the acquisition cost of the non-compete agreements was established based on the discounted value of future 
payments using a discount rate ranging from 8.9% to 10.2%. For cash flow purposes, this has been treated as 
a non-cash transaction. the intangible asset associated with the non-compete agreements is amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the terms of the agreements, which range between 3 and 6 years.

  as part of a past acquisition, the company allocated value to a creosote registration. this intangible asset has an 
indefinite useful life and is therefore not amortized. the creosote registration was initially evaluated at fair value, 
which subsequently became the cost.

 Impairment tests for goodwill

  goodwill is allocated for impairment testing purposes to cgus which reflect how it is monitored for internal 
management purposes.
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8 intangiBle assets and goodWill (continued)

 Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

  the recoverable amount of a cgu is determined based on fair value less cost to sell (FVlcts) calculations. FVlcts 
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period that are based on the 
latest budgets for revenue and cost as approved by senior management. cash flow projections beyond five years 
are based on internal management forecasts and assume a growth rate not exceeding gross domestic product 
for the respective countries. Post-tax cash flow projections are discounted using a real post-tax discount rate of 
10.0%. two percent real growth rates are assumed in perpetuity for most of the businesses given the commodity 
nature of the majority of the products (i.e. volume growth is assumed to be offset by real price declines). Perpetuity 
capital expenditures have been assumed at 60% of depreciation. the assumptions used in calculating FVlcts 
have considered the current economic environment.

  expected future cash flows are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. they are significantly 
affected by a number of factors, including market and production estimates, together with economic factors such 
as prices, discount rates, estimates of production costs and future capital expenditure. an addition of 1% to the 
discount rate or a 1% decrease in cash flows would not give rise to an impairment. 

 The carrying value of goodwill is allocated to the following CGUs
     2012 2011

  CGUs  $ $

Plants specialized in the treatement of utility poles  45,825  —
Plants specialized in the treatement of railway ties  90,009 91,720

   135,834  91,720

 Impairment tests for intangible assets with indefinite useful life

  the creosote registration is allocated for impairment testing purposes to cgus which reflect how it is monitored 
for internal management purposes. the recoverable amount of a cgu is determined based on value-in-use 
calculations. Value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year 
period that are based on the latest forecasts for revenue and cost as approved by senior management. cash 
flow projections beyond five years are based on internal management forecasts and assume a growth rate not 
exceeding domestic product for the respective countries. Pre-tax cash flow projections are discounted using a real 
pre-tax discount rate of 10.0%. one percent real growth rates are assumed in perpetuity for most of the business 
given the commodity nature of the majority of the products (i.e. volume growth is assumed to be offset by real 
price declines).

  expected future cash flows are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. they are significantly 
affected by a number of factors, including market and production estimates, together with economic factors such 
as prices, discount rates, estimates of production costs and future capital expenditure. an addition of 1% to the 
discount rate or a 1% decrease in cash flows would not give rise to an impairment.
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8 intangiBle assets and goodWill (continued)

 the net book amount of intangible assets was as follows:

 Intangible assets
     Non-
  Cutting Standing Customer compete Creosote 
  rights timber relationships agreements registration Total Goodwill
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $

As at January 1, 2011              
cost 6,792  5,352  25,482  5,659  31,061  74,346  73,973 
accumulated amortization (478) (2,473) (4,622) (2,594) —  (10,167) —

Net book amount 6,314  2,879  20,860  3,065  31,061  64,179  73,973 

Year ended 
 December 31, 2011
opening net book balance 6,314  2,879  20,860  3,065  31,061  64,179  73,973 
additions — 658  — — — 658  —
addition of thompson – 
 customer relationships — —  12,497  — — 12,497  —
addition of thompson –
  goodwill — — — — — — 15,975 
amortization — — (3,258) (934) — (4,192) —
impairment —  — (2,486) — — (2,486) — 
amortization included 
 in inventory (114) (673) — — — (787) —

exchange differences — — 454  39  700  1,193  1,772 

Closing net book amount 6,200  2,864  28,067  2,170  31,761  71,062  91,720 

As at December 31, 2011
cost 6,792  6,010  37,965  5,787  31,761  88,315  91,720
accumulated amortization (592) (3,146) (9,898) (3,617) — (17,253) — 

Net book amount 6,200  2,864  28,067  2,170  31,761  71,062  91,720 

Year ended 
 December 31, 2012
opening net book balance 6,200  2,864  28,067  2,170  31,761  71,062  91,720 
additions — 471  — 889 — 1,360   —
addition of Pls  — — 800  — — 800  1,285 
addition of McHi 1,159  — 27,806  — — 28,965  44,504  
adjustment of thompson – 
 goodwill — — — — — — 286 
transfer to assets held for sale — — (1,674) — — (1,674) —
amortization — — (4,434) (959) — (5,393) —
amortization included 
 in inventory (189) (509) — — — (698) —
exchange differences — — (586) (41) (690) (1,317) (1,961)

Closing net book amount 7,170  2,826  49,979  2,059  31,071  93,105  135,834  

As at December 31, 2012
cost 7,951  6,481  64,074  6,551  31,071  116,128  135,834  
accumulated amortization (781) (3,655) (14,095) (4,492) — (23,023) —

Net book amount 7,170  2,826  49,979  2,059  31,071  93,105  135,834  
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8 intangiBle assets and goodWill (continued)

  in december 2011, the company took an impairment charge of $2,486 following the non-renewal of a service 
contract included in customer relationships for which a value was assigned in a previous acquisition.

  in november 2012, the company sold the assets of its Kennecott, utah, rail service operations. total proceeds 
of the sale generated $4,044 of which $1,019 was recorded as a gain in the consolidated statement of income 
as other losses (gains), net. during the year, a total asset value of $2,866 was re-classed to assets held for sale of 
which the net book value of intangible assets represented $1,674.

9 otHeR assets

     2012 2011

     $ $

advances and notes receivable  501 541
assets held for sale  498 3,164
long-term bank fees  1,010 455
other  826 154

   2,835 4,314

10 BanK indeBtedness

    note 2012 2011

     $ $

Proportionate share of Kanaka’s demand operating loan 10(a) — 2,585
Bankers’ acceptances 10(b) 14,000 —

      14,000 2,585

 a)  as a result of the McHi acquisition, the company controls 100% of the Kanaka operations. on november 30, 2012, 
the Kanaka credit facility was terminated and the demand operating loan was repaid in its entirety using funds 
from the company’s committed revolving credit facility (note 12).   

 b)  as part of the McHi acquisition (note 4), the company assumed and reimbursed debts with financial 
institutions. upon reimbursement, all McHi credit facilities were terminated. certain cash amounts paid 
to financial institutions were held as collateral against banker’s acceptance loans maturing in January and 
February 2013. as at december 31, 2012, $14,000 in banker’s acceptances were still outstanding with an 
equivalent amount presented under cash. 

11 accounts PayaBle and accRued liaBilities
    note 2012 2011

     $ $

trade payables   24,813 22,367
amounts due to related parties 21 294 85
accrued expenses  24,169 14,888 
other payables  16,560 6,353

     65,836 43,693
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12 long-teRM deBt

    note 2012 2011

     $ $

committed revolving credit facility 12(a) 298,056 124,989
unsecured, subordinated and non-convertible 
 debenture 12(b) 24,873 25,425
unsecured and non-convertible debenture 12(c) 9,949 10,170
subordinated note 12(d) 5,424 5,899
Bond – county of Fulton, Kentucky 12(e) 4,034 4,363
Bond – arkansas development Finance authority 12(f ) 2,447 2,649
unsecured promissory note 12(g) 4,877 5,374
unsecured promissory note 12(h) 200 394
Promissory notes and mortgage loans 12(i) — 1,144

   349,860 180,407
deferred financing costs   (252) (313)

     349,608 180,094

less: current portion of long-term debt   6,417 1,524
less: current portion of deferred financing costs   (59) (59)

total current portion of long-term debt  6,358 1,465

     343,250 178,629

 a)  on november 21, 2012, the company and sJ Holding, as borrowers, entered into an agreement to amend 
and restate in its entirety their existing revolving credit agreement dated July 28, 2011. this third restated 
and amended agreement makes available a committed revolving credit facility in the amount of $350,000 
(previously $170,000), to be used to repay and refinance existing indebtedness, for working capital and general 
corporate purposes and to finance a portion of the McHi acquisition. the $350,000 committed revolving 
credit facility has been made available for a five-year term by a syndicate of lenders to the company and 
sJ Holding. Borrowings may be obtained in the form of canadian prime rate loans, acceptances, u.s. base 
rate loans, liBoR loans in u.s. dollars and letters of credit. the interest rate margin with respect to canadian 
prime rate loans and u.s. base rate loans will range from 0.00% to 1.00% based on a pricing grid (previously  
0.25% to 1.50%). the interest rate margin with respect to acceptances, liBoR loans and fees for letters of credit 
will range from 1.00% to 2.00% (previously 1.25% to 2.50%) based on a pricing grid. as at december 31, 2012, 
borrowings by canadian entities denominated in u.s. dollars represented $232,455 (us$233,646), of which 
$221,067 (us$222,200) was designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations.

   during the year, the company entered into interest rate swap agreements fixing certain rates as described in 
note 19, Financial instruments.

   as collateral for the committed revolving credit facility, the bank lenders hold a first ranking charge over 
all of the assets, tangible and intangible, present and future, of the company, sJ Holding and their material 
subsidiaries, with the exception of certain assets as outlined in the agreement.
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12 long-teRM deBt (continued)

 b)  on april 1, 2011, the company entered into an agreement to amend and restate a us$25,000 unsecured, 
subordinated and non-convertible debenture. the amended debenture bears interest at 7.27% (previously 
9.75%) and is repayable in a single instalment of us$25,000 on april 1, 2016 (previously, a single instalment 
of us$25,000 on april 1, 2015). no advance repayment will be permitted under the amended agreement. the 
amended debenture was designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations. the amendment was 
accounted for as a modification of the terms of the debt and without penalties.

 c)  on april 1, 2011, the company entered into an agreement to amend and restate a us$25,000 unsecured 
and non-convertible debenture and repaid us$15,000 of the capital amount. the amended debenture bears 
interest at 7.27% (previously 7.89%) and is repayable in a single instalment of us$10,000 on april 1, 2016 
(previously, five annual principal repayments of us$2,500 starting on april 1, 2013 and a final payment of 
us$12,500 on april 1, 2018). no advance repayment will be permitted under the amended debenture. the 
amended debenture was designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations. the amendment was 
accounted for as a modification of the terms of the debt and without penalties.

 d)  Pursuant to a business acquisition on February 28, 2007, sJ corp issued a note payable to J.H. Baxter & co. 
the note is subordinated to existing lenders and bears interest at 5.0%. the note is repayable in five annual 
principal repayments of us$500, with a final payment of us$5,500 on the sixth anniversary date. the note was 
initially recorded at a fair value of $6,981 using an interest rate of 8.0%. the difference between the face value 
and the fair value of the note is being accreted on an effective yield basis over its term.

 e)  Bond issued in favour of the county of Fulton, Kentucky (the Burke-Parsons-Bowlby Project), series 2006, 
repayable in annual principal repayments of us$200 starting July 2008 through July 2011, us$300 starting 
august 2011 through July 2019 and us$400 starting august 2019 through July 2026. the bond bears interest 
at a variable rate based on the siFMa Municipal swap index. on June 15, 2009, the company entered  
into an interest rate swap agreement fixing the rate at 2.99% up to december 1, 2015. the bond is secured  
by substantially all property, plant and equipment of the Fulton facility, which have a net book value of 
us$8,013 as at december 31, 2012. the bond was initially recorded in the consolidated financial statements 
at a fair value of us$4,835 using an interest rate of 6.50%. the difference between the face value and the fair 
value of the bond is being accreted on an effective yield basis over its term.

   in order to provide security for the timely payment of the principal and interest due on the bond, the u.s. 
subsidiaries entered into a us$5,200 irrevocable letter of credit with the bank that is also the trustee for the 
series 2006 Bond indenture, at an annual fee of 1.0% of the outstanding loan balance. the letter of credit 
expires on January 17, 2026.

 f )  as part of the thompson acquisition, sJ corp assumed a bond issued in favour of the arkansas development 
Finance authority, repayable in annual principal repayments ranging from us$145 to us$275 up to september 1, 2024. 
interest rates on the bond range from 5.62% to 5.81% and are payable semi-annually on March 1 and september 1. 
the bond is secured by all the machinery and equipment of the Russellville, arkansas facility.

 g)  as part of the thompson acquisition, sJ corp issued an unsecured promissory note of $6,617 bearing interest 
at 2.67%. the note is repayable in 10 equal instalments up to december 2021. the note was initially recorded 
at a fair value of $5,357 using an interest rate of 7.0%. the difference between the face value and the fair value 
of the note is being accreted on an effective yield basis over its term.
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12 long-teRM deBt (continued)

 h)  unsecured promissory note at 8.0%, payable in quarterly instalments of us$53, including interest, and matures 
on october 1, 2013.

 i)  during 2012, the company reimbursed two promissory notes payable to the Hickman-Fulton Rural electric 
cooperative corporation as well as its last remaining mortgage loan. 

 j) the repayment requirements on the long-term debt during the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
  

 Principal
 $

2013 6,709
2014  1,057
2015  1,083
2016 35,931
2017 299,192
thereafter 7,801

 351,773
Fair value adjustment (1,913)

 349,860

 k)  the aggregate fair value of the company’s long-term debt was estimated at $350,194 as at december 31, 2012 
(2011 – $179,973) based on discounted future cash flows, using interest rates available to the company for 
issues with similar terms and average maturities. 

13 PRoVisions and otHeR long-teRM liaBilities 

    Other
   Provisions long-term liabilities

     Non-
   Site    competes  Grand
  Reforestation remediation Others Total RSU payable Total total
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance as at January 1, 2011 1,085 1,109 2,271 4,465 423 3,485 3,908 8,373

addition 543 2,485 3,754 6,782 747 — 747 7,529
Payment (312) (3,003) (351) (3,666) — (1,218) (1,218) (4,884)
interest accretion — — (44) (44) — 279 279 235
exchange differences — 19 227 246 — 36 36 282

Balance as at December 31, 2011 1,316 610 5,857 7,783 1,170 2,582 3,752 11,535

addition 417 1,328 1,059 2,804 1,995 889  2,884  5,688 
addition related to acquisitions — 6,365 — 6,365 — 373  373  6,738 
Provision reversal — — (1,655) (1,655) — — — (1,655)
Payment (541) (1,700) (3,945) (6,186) (2,724) (1,296) (4,020) (10,206)
interest accretion — — — — — 208 208 208
exchange differences — (9) (88) (97) — (52) (52) (149)

Balance as at December 31, 2012 1,192 6,594 1,228 9,014 441 2,704 3,145 12,159
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13 PRoVisions and otHeR long-teRM liaBilities (continued)

 analysis of provisions and other long-term liabilities:
     2012 2011

   $ $

current
 Provisions  2,262  7,169
 other long-term liabilities  1,600  2,249

total current  3,862 9,418

non-current
 Provisions  6,752 614
 other long-term liabilities  1,545 1,503

total non-current  8,297 2,117

   12,159 11,535

 Provisions

 Reforestation
  stella-Jones canada inc. has asset retirement obligations relating to reforestation and site remediation that have 

been estimated using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the 
risk specific to the obligation of 4.0% (2011 – 4.0%) to approximate the present value of future expenditures.

  Reforestation obligations represent discounted cash flow estimates of future silviculture costs relating to logged 
areas that are the company’s responsibility to reforest.

  Future non-discounted reforestation expenditures are estimated at between $361 and $466 in each of the next 
three years. there are uncertainties in estimating future reforestation costs due to potential regulatory changes 
as well as the impact of weather-related changes on reforested areas. accordingly, the actual cost of reforestation 
may differ from current estimates.

 site remediation
  site remediation obligations represent discounted cash flow estimates relating to future environmental 

remediation costs of current and former treating sites for a period ranging from 1 to 21 years.

  as part of the McHi acquisition, the company recorded $5,910 of provisions for site remediation. the remaining 
balance of $228 is related to ongoing compliance efforts.

 others
  other provisions comprise $244 in legal litigation provisions and $984 in a provision set up to acquire the land of 

the Memphis facility, which is presently being leased.

 Other long-term liabilities

 Restricted stock units
  on december 18, 2009, certain key executives of the company were granted Rsus as part of a long-term incentive 

plan. this plan had been approved by the company’s Board of directors on december 10, 2009. the number 
of Rsus initially granted was based on a percentage of the executive’s salary, divided by the average trading 
price of the company’s common shares on the tsX for the five days immediately preceding the grant date. in the 
case of the President, the number of Rsus initially granted was a fixed number recommended by the company’s 
Remuneration committee. additional Rsus may be issued annually conditional upon the company attaining a 
minimum 12.5% return on capital employed. 
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13 PRoVisions and otHeR long-teRM liaBilities (continued)

 Other long-term liabilities (continued)

  the Rsus are full-value phantom shares payable in cash on the third anniversary of their date of grant, provided the 
executive is still employed by the company. the amount to be paid is determined by multiplying the number of 
Rsus by the six-month average trading price of the company’s common shares on the tsX immediately preceding 
the anniversary.

  the Rsus granted on december 18, 2009 reached their third year anniversary on december 18, 2012 and were  
fully paid.

 on March 19, 2012, the company granted Rsus as part of the long-term incentive plan.

  as at december 31, 2012, the provision for Rsus was valued at $441 ($1,170 as at december 31, 2011).the number 
of additional Rsus to be issued will be calculated in the same manner as the initial grant. no Rsus were granted  
in 2011.

 non-competes payable
 the company entered into non-compete agreements as part of the Pls and previous acquisitions.

14 caPital stocK

    note 2012 2011

   $ $

number of shares outstanding – Beginning of year*   15,955 15,923
stock option plan*  29 22
share issuance*  4 1,176 —
employee share purchase plans*   8 10

number of shares outstanding – end of year*   17,168 15,955

*  number of shares is presented in thousands.

 a) capital stock consists of the following:
  authorized
   an unlimited number of preferred shares issuable in series
   an unlimited number of common shares

 b) earnings per share
   the following table provides the reconciliation between basic earnings per common share and diluted 

earnings per common share:

     2012 2011

Net income applicable to common shares $ 73,070 $ 55,709

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding*  16,078  15,946
effect of dilutive stock options*  67   61

Weighted average number of diluted common shares outstanding*  16,145   16,007

Basic earnings per common share ** $ 4.54 $ 3.49

Diluted earnings per common share ** $  4.53 $ 3.48

* number of shares is presented in thousands.

** Basic and diluted earnings per common share are presented in dollars per share.
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14 caPital stocK (continued)

 c) stock option plan
   the company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”) for directors, officers and employees whereby the Board of 

directors or a committee appointed for such purpose (“committee”) may, from time to time, grant to directors, 
officers or employees of the company options to acquire common shares in such numbers, for such terms and 
at such exercise prices as are determined by the Board of directors or such committee. the stated purpose 
of the Plan is to secure for the company and its shareholders the benefits of incentives inherent in share 
ownership by directors, officers and employees of the company.

   under the Plan adopted on June 13, 1994 and amended on May 3, 1995, March 15, 2001, May 3, 2007 and 
december 10, 2010, the aggregate number of common shares in respect of which options may be granted 
is 1,200,000 and no optionee may hold options to purchase common shares exceeding 5% of the number of 
common shares issued and outstanding from time to time. the exercise price of an option shall not be lower 
than the closing price of the common shares on the tsX on the last trading day immediately preceding the 
date of the granting of the option. each option shall be exercisable during a period established by the Board 
of directors or committee, and the term of the option may not exceed 10 years. options will not be assignable 
and will terminate, in the case of an employee, either 30 or 180 days following cessation of service with the 
company, depending on the circumstances of such cessation, and in the case of a director who is not an 
employee of the company, either 30 or 180 days following the date on which such optionee ceases to be a 
director of the company, depending on the circumstances.

  changes in the number of options outstanding under the Plan were as follows:

 2012 2011

  Weighted  Weighted
  average  average
 Number exercise Number exercise

 of options* price** of options* price**
  $  $

Outstanding – Beginning of year  159 23.36 181 22.70
exercised  (29) 17.00 (22) 18.02
granted  — —  — —

Outstanding – End of year  130 24.76  159 23.36

Options exercisable – End of year  100 24.85  120 22.97

  the following options were outstanding under the Plan as at december 31, 2012:

 Options outstanding Options exercisable

 Number Exercise  Number Exercise Expiration
Date granted of options* price** of options* price** date

  $  $ 

december 2005  11  13.00 11  13.00 december 2015
July 2006 34  19.50 34  19.50 July 2016
august 2006 3  20.55 3  20.55 august 2016
august 2007 23  39.58 23  39.58 august 2017
december 2009  52  24.05 24  24.05 december 2016
May 2010 7  28.29 5  28.29 May 2020

  131  100

* number of options is presented in thousands.       

** exercise price is presented in dollars per option.
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14 caPital stocK (continued)

 d) stock-based compensation
   the company records expenses for the fair value of the stock options granted under the Plan using the 

Black-scholes option pricing model. this model determines the fair value of stock options granted and 
amortizes it to income over the vesting period.

  no options were granted during 2012 and 2011. 

   in 2012, the total expense relating to stock-based compensation amortized to earnings was $118 (2011 – $221).

 e) employee share purchase plans
   the aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance under the company’s two employee share 

purchase plans is 250,000.

   under the first plan, company employees who are canadian residents are eligible to purchase common shares 
from the company at an amount equal to 90% of the market price. employees who hold common shares in 
the employee share purchase plan for 18 months following the date of acquisition of such shares receive 
additional common shares of the company equivalent to 10% of the amount of their contributions made 
on the date of acquisition. in 2012, 4,811 common shares (2011 – 6,849) were issued to canadian resident 
employees at an average price of $47.58 per share (2011 – $31.79).

   under the second plan, company employees who are u.s. residents are eligible to purchase common shares 
from the company at market price. employees who hold common shares in the employee share purchase 
plan for 18 months following the date of acquisition of such shares receive additional common shares of the 
company equivalent to 10% of the amount of their contributions made on the date of acquisition. in 2012, 
3,111 common shares (2011 – 3,586) were issued to u.s. resident employees at an average price of $52.76 per 
share (2011 – $35.25).

 as at december 31, 2012, the total number of common shares issued under these plans is 188,245 (2011 – 180,323).

15 eXPenses By natuRe

     2012 2011

   $ $

Raw materials and consumables   461,925 427,396
employee benefit expenses  57,065 49,243
depreciation and amortization  10,705 8,715
other expenses incurred in manufacturing process  20,609 17,849
Freight  36,669 29,491
other expenses  20,925 19,486

  607,898 552,180

     2012 2011

   $ $

Employee benefit expenses
salaries, wages and benefits  54,273 47,794
share options granted to directors and employees  118 221
Pension costs  913 (345)
group registered retirement savings plans  1,761 1,573

    57,065 49,243
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15 eXPenses By natuRe (continued)

  employee benefit expenses are included in cost of sales and selling and administrative expenses.
     
     2012 2011

   $ $

Other losses (gains), net
asset revaluation following Kanaka’s step acquisition  (1,623) —
losses on disposal of long-term assets  2,201 505
Foreign exchange loss (gain)  (891) 554

  (313) 1,059

16 incoMe taXes

     2012 2011

   $ $

Current tax
current tax on income for the year  30,620  23,558
adjustments in respect of prior years  (134) (411)

Total current tax  30,486  23,147

Deferred tax
origination and reversal of temporary differences  (1,879) (1,384)
impact of change in tax rate  (285) (44)
adjustment in respect of prior years  (115) 2,501

Total deferred tax  (2,279) 1,073

Income tax expense  28,207  24,220

  the tax on the company’s income before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the weighted average tax rate applicable to income of the consolidated entities as follows:

     2012 2011

   $ $

Income before income tax  101,278  79,929

tax calculated at domestic tax rates of 26.59%  (2011 – 28.21%)  26,930  22,458
 applicable to income in the respective countries
tax effects of:
 difference in tax rate of foreign subsidiaries  6,511 3,325
 income not subject to tax  (2,611) (2,434)
 expenses not deductible for tax purposes  (10) 95
 Remeasurement of deferred tax – change in tax rate  (285) (44)
 adjustment in respect of prior years  (249) 2,065
 exchange revaluation of deferred tax  (2) 45
 Manufacturing and processing tax credit  (2,077) (1,290)

Income tax expense  28,207  24,220
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16 incoMe taXes (continued)

  the analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:    

     2012 2011

    $ $

Deferred tax assets
 to be recovered after more than 12 months  13,088 1,749
 to be recovered within 12 months  8,338  5,433
Deferred tax liabilities
 to be reversed after more than 12 months  (60,235) (50,599)
 to be reversed within 12 months  — —

 Deferred tax liability, net  (38,809) (43,417)

  the gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:    

    2012 2011

   $ $

As at January 1  (43,417) (34,685)
statement of income charge  2,279  (1,073)
tax charge (credit) relating to components of other comprehensive income 199 642
tax charge (credit) directly to equity  652 —
tax charge (credit) relating to acquisition  695 (7,638)
Foreign exchange  783 (663)

As at December 31  (38,809) (43,417)
   
  the movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration 

the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as  follow: 

        Capital loss
             unrealized   Net 
         Derivative Deferred on foreign Intan-  oper- 
     Financing   financial pension exchange gible ating 
     fees Reserves instruments benefits on debts assets loss Total
     $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred tax assets

As at January 1, 2011 689 3,204 466 418 — — — 4,777
charged (credited) to 
 statement of income 36 2,092 — 122 282 — — 2,532
charged (credited) to other
  comprehensive income — — (51) 56 (282) — — (277)
charged (credited) to equity — — — — — — — —
charged (credited) to goodwill — — — — — — — —
exchange differences 6 137 7 — — —  150 

As at December 31, 2011 731 5,433 422 596 — — — 7,182

charged (credited) to 
 statement of income (431) (693) — (117) (23) (1,022) 62  (2,224)
charged (credited) to other 
 comprehensive income — — 153  23  23  —  — 199 
charged (credited) to equity 652  —  — — — —  — 652 
charged (credited) to goodwill — 3,700  — 1,060  —  10,869  60  15,689 
exchange differences (3) (102) 2 8  — 23  —  (72)

As at December 31, 2012 949  8,338  577  1,570  — 9,870  122  21,426 
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16 incoMe taXes (continued)

       Capital gain
       unrealized
       on foreign
   Property, Deferred   exchange
   plant and pension Intangible Investment gain
   equipment benefits assets tax credit on debts Total
   $ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred tax liabilities 

As at January 1, 2011 (20,110) (291) (18,717) (87) (257) (39,462)
charged (credited) to 
 statement of income (4,399) (333) 1,185  (20) (38) (3,605)
charged (credited) 
 to other comprehensive
 income — 624  — — 295  919  
charged (credited) to equity  — — — — — —
charged (credited) to goodwill (2,633) — (5,005) — —  (7,638)
exchange differences (442) — (371) — — (813)

As at December 31, 2011 (27,584) — (22,908) (107) —  (50,599)

charged (credited) to
 statement of income 726  — 3,776  1  —  4,503 
charged (credited) 
 to other comprehensive
 income — — — — — —
charged (credited) to equity — — — — — —
charged (credited) to goodwill (15,016) — 22  — — (14,994)
exchange differences 393  — 462  — —  855 

As at December 31, 2012 (41,481) — (18,648) (106) —  (60,235)
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16 incoMe taXes (continued)

  the company did not recognize deferred income tax assets of $378 (2011 – $198) in respect of capital losses 
amounting to $2,848 (2011 – $1,483) that can be carried forward indefinitely against future taxable capital gain.

  deferred income tax liabilities have not been recognized for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be 
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries. such amounts are permanently reinvested. unremitted 
earnings totalled $86,133 as at december 31, 2012 (2011 – $51,713).

17 eMPloyee FutuRe BeneFits

  the company recognizes costs for several types of employee future benefits. other post-employment benefits are 
offered to certain retired employees and consist of group health and dental care, life insurance and complementary 
retirement benefits. stella-Jones canada inc. contributes to a multi-employer plan for certain hourly employees 
and to four defined benefit pension plans for salaried and certain non-union hourly wage employees. 

  Following the McHi acquisition, the company now contributes to two us defined benefit pension plans.

  all other active employees are entitled to a group registered retirement savings plan to which the company 
matches 1.5 times employee contributions to a maximum of 4% of salary. the recognized costs for employee 
future benefits were as follows:

     2012 2011

   $ $

Post-retirement benefits   154 (1,109)
defined benefit pension plans   430  449
contributions to multi-employer plan   329  320
contributions to group registered retirement savings plans   1,761  1,573

 a)  the post-retirement benefits program is not funded. For this program, the company measures its accrued 
benefit obligations for accounting purposes as at december 31 of each year. the most recent actuarial 
valuation of this plan was as at July 1, 2012, and the next required valuation will be as at July 1, 2015. 

  on June 1, 2011 the following changes were made to the post-retirement benefits program:

	 	 	 •	 	All	employees	who	retire	on	or	after	June	1,	2011	are	eligible	to	an	annual	allocation	Health	Spending	
account upon retirement. this coverage replaces the current health care coverage.

	 	 	 •	 Current	retirees	maintain	their	coverage	under	their	current	plan.

   the change in plan provisions was treated as a prior service cost. this prior service cost is amortized over the 
remaining service lifetime to full eligibility of the active group that is not vested and is recognized immediately 
for the vested group. as at June 1, 2011, the prior service cost resulting from the plan change was calculated 
to be $(1,336). 
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17 eMPloyee FutuRe BeneFits (continued)

   the following information as established by independent actuaries pertains to the company’s post-retirement 
benefits program:

     2012 2011

   $ $

Accrued benefit obligation 
Balance – Beginning of year  1,630 2,572
current service cost  81 124
Past service cost  — (1,336)
interest cost   73 103
Benefits payments  (50) (42)
actuarial loss (gain)  (12) 209

Balance – end of year  1,722 1,630

Plan assets
employer’s contributions  50 42
Benefits paid  (50) (42)

Fair value – end of year  — —

Accrued benefit obligation  1,722 1,630

  the significant assumptions used are as follows:
     2012 2011

   % %

Accrued benefit obligation as at December 31
discount rate  4.00 4.30
Rate of compensation increase  2.00 2.00

Benefit costs for the year ended December 31 
discount rate  4.30 5.40
Rate of compensation increase  2.00 2.00

   For measurement purposes, a 9.5% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care 
benefits was assumed starting in 2009. this rate is assumed to decrease gradually by 0.5% per year, to reach 
5%. therefore, the rate used to calculate the cost per capita of health care cost increases in 2012 was 8.0%. an 
increase or decrease of 1% in this rate would have the following impact:

      Increase Decrease

     of 1% of 1%

   $ $

impact on accrued benefit obligation  63 (54)
impact on benefit costs  3 (3)
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17 eMPloyee FutuRe BeneFits (continued)

   the items of the company’s post-retirement benefits program costs recognized during the year are as follows:

     2012 2011

   $ $

current service cost  81 124
interest cost  73 103
Past service cost  — (1,336)

Post-retirement benefits program costs recognized  154 (1,109)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  2012 2011
   $ $

Year ended December 31

actuarial gains (losses)  12 (209)

Total recognized in other comprehensive income before income tax 12 (209)

Accumulated actuarial losses recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss)  2012 2011
    $ $

Balance of actuarial losses as at January 1  (178) (25)
net actuarial gains (losses) recognized in the year  12 (153)

Balance of actuarial losses as at December 31  (166) (178)

 b)  the stella-Jones canada inc. defined benefit pension plans base the benefits on the length of service and final 
average earnings. the McHi defined benefit pension plans base the benefits on the length of service and flat 
dollar amounts payable monthly. the company measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair value of 
plan assets for accounting purposes as at december 31 of each year. 

   actuarial valuations are updated every three years, and the latest valuations performed for the six existing 
pension plans are as follows:

 Date of last
  actuarial valuation

Plan 1 december 31, 2010
Plan 2 december 31, 2010
Plan 3 december 31, 2010
Plan 4 december 31, 2011
Plan 5 december 31, 2012
Plan 6 december 31, 2012
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17 eMPloyee FutuRe BeneFits (continued)

   information about the company’s defined benefit pension plans other than the multi-employer defined 
benefit plan, in aggregate, is as follows:

     2012 2011

   $ $

Accrued benefit obligation 
Balance – Beginning of year  12,755 10,272
addition of subsidiaries  6,001 —
current service cost  560 388 
Past service cost  — 186
interest cost  605 568
Benefits payments  (611) (413)
actuarial loss  363 1,754

Balance – End of year  19,673 12,755

Plan assets
Fair value – Beginning of year  12,114 11,391
addition of subsidiaries  3,266 —
expected return on assets  720 681
actuarial gains (losses)  241 (824)
employer’s contributions  876 1,267
employee’s contributions  15 12
Benefits paid  (611) (413)

Fair value – End of year  16,621 12,114

Accrued benefit liability  (3,052) (641)

   included in the above accrued benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets at year-end are the following 
amounts in respect of benefit plans that are not fully funded:  

     2012 2011

   $ $

accrued benefit obligation  17,308 5,010
Fair value of plan assets  13,963 4,357

Funded status – Plan deficit  (3,345) (653)

 the percentage of plan assets consists of the following for the year ended december 31:

     2012 2011

   % %

equity securities  46 57
debt securities  52 41
short-term investments and cash  2 2

     100 100
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17 eMPloyee FutuRe BeneFits (continued)

 the significant weighted average assumptions used are as follows:

     2012 2011

   % %

Accrued benefit obligation as at December 31
discount rate   3.90  4.50
inflation assumption   2.00  2.30
Rate of compensation increase   3.00  4.00

Benefit costs for the year ended December 31
discount rate   4.50  5.50
inflation assumption   2.30  2.50
Rate of compensation increase   4.00  3.50

 the items of the company’s defined benefit plan costs recognized during the year are as follows:

     2012 2011

   $ $

current service cost, net of employee’s contributions  545 376
interest cost  605 568
expected return on plan assets  (720) (681)
Past service cost  — 186

Defined benefit plan expense  430 449

 expected contributions to the defined benefit pension plans for the year ending december 31, 2013 are $811.
 
  the actual return on plan assets was $961 (2011 – $(145)), compared to an expected return on plan assets of $720 

(2011 – $681); this produced an actuarial gain (loss) of $241 (2011 – $(825)).

   Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  2012 2011

   $ $

Year ended December 31 
actuarial losses  (65) (2,575)

Total recognized in other comprehensive income before income tax (65) (2,575)

Accumulated actuarial losses recognized in other comprehensive 
income (loss)  2012 2011

  $ $

Balance of actuarial losses as at January 1  (2,706) (754)

net actuarial losses recognized in the year  (42) (1,952)

 Balance of actuarial losses as at December 31  (2,748) (2,706)
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18 coMMitMents and contingencies

 a)  the company is involved from time to time in various claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary 
course of business. no provision in relation to those claims has been recognized in these consolidated financial 
statements, as legal advise indicates that it is not probable that a significant liability will arise.

 b)  the company has issued guarantees amounting to $44,061 (2011 – $27,924) under letters of credit and various 
bid and performance bonds. the company’s management does not believe these guarantees are likely to be 
called on. as a result, no provisions have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

 c)  Future minimum payments under operating leases related to land, equipment and rolling stock are as follows:

 $

2013 10,789
2014 8,032
2015 5,988
2016 4,605
2017 3,229
thereafter 17,490
  50,133

 d)  the company’s operations are subject to canadian federal and provincial as well as u.s. federal and state 
environmental laws and regulations governing, among other matters, air emissions, waste management and 
wastewater effluent discharges. the company takes measures to comply with such laws and regulations. 
However, the measures taken are subject to the uncertainties of changing legal requirements, enforcement 
practices and developing technological processes.

 e)  the company has contracts whereby third party licensees that harvest certain areas assume the responsibility 
for reforestation. should the third party licensees fail to perform, the company is responsible for these 
additional future reforestation costs, which are currently estimated to be $730 (2011 – $738). Payments, if any, 
required as a result of this contingency will be expensed in the period in which they are determined and are 
not included in the provision for reforestation.

19 Financial instRuMents

 Financial instruments, carrying values and fair values

  the company has determined that the fair value of its short-term financial assets and financial liabilities 
approximates their carrying amounts as at the consolidated statement of financial position dates because of the 
short-term maturity of those instruments. the fair values of the long-term receivables and interest-bearing financial 
liabilities also approximate their carrying amounts unless otherwise disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated 
financial statements. the fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements has 
been recorded using mark-to-market information.

 Credit risk

  credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. credit risk arises principally from the company’s receivables from customers. 
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19 Financial instRuMents (continued)

 Credit risk (continued)

  the company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 
Management believes that the credit risk of accounts receivable is limited because the company deals primarily 
with railroad companies, public service companies and utility and telecommunication companies as well as other 
major corporations.

  Management has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually for 
creditworthiness before the company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. the 
company’s review includes external ratings, where available, and credit references from other suppliers. Purchase 
limits are established for each customer, which represent the maximum open amount not requiring additional 
approval from management. a monthly review of the accounts receivable aging is performed by management for 
each selling location. customers that fail to meet the company’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with 
the company only on a prepayment basis.

  note 5 provides details on the receivable aging as well as on the provision for doubtful accounts for the years ended 
december 31, 2012 and 2011. in 2012, the company had one customer representing 14% of its sales (2011 – 14%). as 
at december 31, 2012, the accounts receivable balance from this customer amounted to $1,278 (2011 – $3,936).

 Liquidity risk

  liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. the 
company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, on a long-term basis, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring losses or 
risking damage to its reputation. 

  the company ensures that it has sufficient credit facilities to support working capital, meet expected operational 
expenses and service financial obligations. inventories are a significant component of working capital because of 
the long periods required to air-season wood, which can occasionally exceed nine months before a sale is made. 

  the company monitors all financial liabilities and ensures it will have sufficient liquidity to meet these future 
payments. the operating activities of the company are the primary source of cash flows. the company also has 
a committed revolving credit facility (note 12(a)) made available by a syndicate of lenders which can be used for 
working capital and general corporate requirements. as at december 31, 2012, an amount of $298,056 was drawn 
against the company’s committed revolving credit facility. the following table details the maturities of the financial 
liabilities as at december 31:

         2012

       Between Between More
    Carrying Contractual Less than 1 and 3 3 and 5 than
    amount cash flows 1 year years years 5 years

   $ $ $ $ $ $

Bank indebtedness   14,000  14,000  14,000  — — —
accounts payable and  
 accrued liabilities   65,836  65,836   65,836   — — —
long-term debt obligations   349,608  388,324  15,188  18,457  346,440  8,239
interest rate swaps 
 net settlement   —  5,010  1,355  2,427  1,228  —
non-competes payable   2,704  2,953  1,740  915  298 —

     432,148  476,123   98,119   21,799  347,966  8,239
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19 Financial instRuMents (continued)

 Liquidity risk (continued)

         2011

       Between Between More
    Carrying Contractual Less than 1 and 3 3 and 5 than
    amount cash flows 1 year years years 5 years

   $ $ $ $ $ $

Bank indebtedness   2,585  2,657  2,657  — — —
accounts payable and  
 accrued liabilities   43,693  43,693  43,693  — — —
long-term debt obligations   180,094  207,154  7,715  21,288  170,325  7,826
interest rate swaps 
 net settlement   —  3,996  1,134  1,815  1,047 —
non-competes payable   2,582  2,848  1,265  1,583 — —

       228,954  260,348  56,464 24,686  171,372  7,826
 
  Market risk 

   Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will 
affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. the objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing 
the return on risk.

  Currency risk

   the company’s exposure to foreign exchange gains or losses from currency fluctuations is related to sales and 
purchases in u.s. dollars by its canadian-based operations and to u.s. dollar denominated long-term debt held 
by its canadian companies. the company monitors its transactions in u.s. dollars generated by canadian-based 
operations and enters into hedging transactions to mitigate its currency risk. the company’s basic hedging activity 
consists of entering into foreign exchange forward contracts for the sale of u.s. dollars and the purchase of certain 
goods and services in u.s. dollars. the company also considers foreign exchange forward contracts for the purchase 
of u.s. dollars for significant purchases of goods and services that were not covered by natural hedges.

   the company had no foreign exchange forward contracts as at december 31, 2012. the following table 
summarizes the company’s derivative financial instruments relating to the sale of foreign currencies through 
foreign exchange forward contracts as at december 31, 2011:

 Foreign exchange Notional Average Notional Fair
  forward contract amount exchange equivalent value
    US$ rate CA$ CA$

current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0387 1,558 32
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0392 1,559 31
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0397 1,559 31
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0400 1,560 31
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0402 1,560 30
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0404 1,561 29
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0406 1,561 29
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0407 1,561 28
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0408 1,561 28
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0409 1,561 27
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0410 1,562 27
current asset sell us$/Buy ca$ 1,500  1.0411 1,562 26

    18,000  1.0403 18,725 349
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19 Financial instRuMents (continued)

 Currency risk (continued)

  the contracts matured at various dates up to december 31, 2012, and the fair value was determined by obtaining 
mark-to-market values as at december 31, 2011. this type of measurement falls under level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy as per iFRs 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures. a description of each level of the hierarchy is as follows:

  level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

  level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for these assets or 
liabilities, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

  level 3: inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

  a 10% strengthening of the u.s. dollar against the canadian dollar would have resulted in a loss on foreign 
exchange forward contracts recognized in other comprehensive income of nil for the year ended december 31, 
2012 (2011 – $1,181). For a 10% weakening of the u.s. dollar against the canadian dollar, there would be an equal 
and opposite impact.

  the following table provides information on the impact of a 10% strengthening of the u.s. dollar against the 
canadian dollar on net income for the years ended december 31, 2012 and 2011. For a 10% weakening of the u.s. dollar 
against the canadian dollar, there would be an equal and opposite impact on net income and comprehensive income:

     2012 2011

   $ $

loss to net income  (1,631) (298)

 
   this analysis considers the impact of foreign exchange variance on financial assets and financial liabilities denominated 

in u.s. dollars which are on the consolidated  statement of financial position of the canadian entities:
   
     2012 2011

    $ $

    Assets 
    accounts receivable  168 1,721

    Liabilities 
    accounts payable and accrued liabilities  2,148 1,825
    long-term debt  14,373 2,875

         16,521 4,700

  the foreign exchange impact for the u.s. dollar-denominated long-term debt, in the canadian entities, has been 
excluded for the most part from the sensitivity analysis for other comprehensive income, as the long-term debt is 
designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations (note 12(a)).

 Interest rate risk

  as at december 31, 2012, the company has mitigated its exposure to interest rate risk on long-term debt after 
giving effect to its interest rate swaps; 67% (2011 – 85%) of the company’s long-term debt is at fixed rates.

  the company enters into interest rate swaps in order to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on its short- 
and long-term debt. these swap agreements require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of 
the notional principal amount on which the payments are based. the company designates its interest rate hedge 
agreements as cash flow hedges of the underlying debt. interest expense on the debt is adjusted to include the 
payments made or received under the interest rate swaps.
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19 Financial instRuMents (continued)

 Interest rate risk (continued)

  the committed revolving credit facility defined in note 12(a) is made available by a syndicate of bank lenders. 
the financing of these loans is tied to the canadian bank’s prime rate, the Ba rate, the u.s. bank’s base rate or 
liBoR. the company has minimized its exposure to interest rate fluctuations by entering into interest rate swaps 
as detailed below. the impact of a 10% increase in these rates on the average annual balance of operating credit 
facilities, for borrowings that have not been swapped, would have increased interest expense by $85 for the year 
ended december 31, 2012 (2011 – $105).

 the following tables summarize the company’s interest rate swap agreements as at december 31:

        2012 

    Notional
Notional amount   Related debt instrument Fixed rate Maturity date equivalent 
      %   CA$

 ca$10,000  committed revolving credit facility 1.09* august 2014 10,000 
 ca$10,000  committed revolving credit facility 1.57* august 2016 10,000 
 us$25,000  committed revolving credit facility 0.71* december 2017 24,873 
 us$25,000  committed revolving credit facility 0.69* december 2017 24,873 
 us$25,000  committed revolving credit facility 0.71* december 2017 24,873 
 us$25,000  committed revolving credit facility 0.70* december 2017 24,873 
 us$25,000  committed revolving credit facility 1.16* december 2016 24,873 
 us$15,000  committed revolving credit facility 1.45* august 2016 14,294 
 us$15,000  committed revolving credit facility 0.75* august 2014 14,294 
 us$5,000  committed revolving credit facility  5.80 July 2015 4,975 
 us$5,000  committed revolving credit facility  5.54 July 2015 4,975 
 us$1,000  committed revolving credit facility  4.69 december 2015 995 
 us$5,600  Bond – county of Fulton, Kentucky  2.99 december 2015 5,571

        2011 

    Notional
Notional amount   Related debt instrument Fixed rate Maturity date equivalent 
      %   CA$

 ca$10,000 committed revolving credit facility 1.09* august 2014  10,000
 ca$10,000 committed revolving credit facility 1.57* august 2016  10,000
 us$25,000 committed revolving credit facility 1.16* december 2016  25,425
 us$15,000 committed revolving credit facility 1.45* august 2016  15,255
 us$15,000 committed revolving credit facility 0.75* august 2014  15,255
 us$15,000 committed revolving credit facility 2.57* June 2012  15,255
 us$5,000 committed revolving credit facility  5.80 July 2015  5,085
 us$5,000 committed revolving credit facility  5.54 July 2015  5,085
 us$1,000 committed revolving credit facility  4.69 december 2015  1,017
 us$5,600 Bond – county of Fulton, Kentucky  2.99 december 2015  5,695

 * Plus applicable spread.

  the company’s interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges. the cash flow hedge documentation 
allows the company to substitute the underlying debt as long as the hedge effectiveness is demonstrated. as at 
december 31, 2012, all cash flow hedges were effective.
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19 Financial instRuMents (continued)

 Interest rate risk (continued)

  the fair value of these financial instruments has been determined by obtaining mark-to-market values as at 
december 31, 2012 from different third parties. this type of measurement falls under level 2 in the fair value hierarchy 
as per iFRs 7 and is defined in the currency risk section.

  the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements based on cash settlement requirements as at december 31, 2012 
is a loss of $1,728 (2011 – loss of $1,549), of which $198 and $1,926 respectively are recorded in non-current assets and 
non-current liabilities under derivative financial instruments. a 10% decrease in interest rates as at december 31, 2012 
would have increased the loss recognized in other comprehensive income by approximately $173 (2011 – $155). For 
a 10% increase in the interest rates, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss.

20 caPital disclosuRes

  the company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure sufficient liquidity to pursue its organic growth strategy 
and undertake selective acquisitions, while at the same time taking a conservative approach to financial leverage 
and management of financial risk. the company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light 
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. in order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders, issue new shares, or acquire or sell assets to improve its financial performance and flexibility.

  the company’s capital is composed of total debt, which includes bank indebtedness, and shareholders’ equity, 
which includes capital stock.

     2012 2011

   $ $

total debt  363,608 182,679
shareholders’ equity  468,751 331,912

total capital  832,359 514,591

total debt to total capitalization ratio  0.44:1 0.35:1
 
  the company’s primary uses of capital are to finance non-cash working capital and capital expenditures for 

capacity expansion as well as acquisitions. the company currently funds these requirements out of its internally 
generated cash flows and committed revolving credit facility. However, future corporate acquisitions may require 
new sources of financing. 

  the primary measure used by the company to monitor its financial leverage is the total debt to total capitalization 
ratio, which it aims to maintain within a range of 0.20:1 to 0.75:1. the total debt to total capitalization ratio is 
defined as total debt divided by total capital.



Stella-Jones88

Notes to CoNsolidated FiNaNCial statemeNts (CoNtiNued)
december 31, 2012 and 2011 
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

21 Related PaRty tRansactions

 a) transactions 

    the company had the following transactions with related parties: 

      2012 2011
   $ $

stella Jones international s.a.*      
 Marketing and technical service fees paid   200 200
 interest on promissory note   — 26
stella international s.a. and James Jones & sons limited**      
 Marketing and technical service fees paid   100 100
other      
  legal fees charged by a firm in which a director of the company is a partner 458 359

* stella Jones international s.a. holds, directly or indirectly, approximately 38.7% of the outstanding common shares of the company.

** stella international s.a. and James Jones & sons limited hold 51.0% and 49.0% of all voting shares of stella Jones international s.a., respectively.

  
    these transactions occurred in the normal course of operations and have been measured at the exchange value, 

which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by related parties.

     on november 30, 2012, in connection with the McHi acquisition, the company completed a private placement of 
subscription receipts with stella Jones international s.a. the gross amount paid was $30,960.

 
    as at december 31, the consolidated statement of financial position includes the following amounts with 

related parties:

     2012 2011

   $ $

accounts payable to stella international s.a. and James Jones & sons limited 25 25
accounts payable to stella Jones international s.a.  50 50
accounts payable to a firm in which a director of the company is a partner 219 10

   294 85

 b) Key management compensation 
    Key management includes certain directors (executive and non-executive), and certain senior management. 
  the compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is as follows:
         
      2012 2011

   $ $

salaries, compensation and benefits   4,417 2,041
share-based payments   81 124

     4,498 2,165
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22 segMent inFoRMation

  the company operates within one business segment: the production and sale of pressure-treated wood and 
related services. operating plants are located in the canadian provinces of nova scotia, Quebec, ontario, alberta 
and British columbia, and in the u.s. states of Pennsylvania, Virginia, West Virginia, Kentucky, Wisconsin, alabama, 
indiana, louisiana, tennessee, arkansas, oregon, Mississippi, Washington and georgia (facility under construction). 
the company also operates a large distribution network across north america.

 sales attributed to countries based on location of customer are as follows:

      2012 2011
   $ $

canada  228,356 227,952
u.s.  489,138 412,196

   717,494 640,148

  sales by product as at december 31 are as follows:

      2012 2011
   $ $

Railway ties  404,461 338,790
utility poles  218,491 194,807
industrial products  59,035 78,890 
Residential lumber  35,507 27,661 

   717,494 640,148

    
 Property, plant and equipment attributed to the countries based on location are as follows:  

     2012 2011
   $ $

canada  59,380 47,992
u.s.  128,193 71,449

   187,573 119,441
 
  intangible assets with a net book value of $83,109 (2011 – $61,998)  are attributed to the company’s u.s. operations.
 
  goodwill with a value of $135,834  (2011 – $91,720) is allocated to the u.s., the location where the cgus hold the 

majority of their business activities.

23 suBseQuent eVent

  on March 21, 2013, the Board of directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0.20 per common share payable on 
april 30, 2013 to shareholders of record at the close of business on april 2, 2013.




